FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/17/2025 2:41 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. _____

Case #: 1040741

Court of Appeals No. 59057-3

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARYNN HAUK,

Petitioner,

۷.

BRANDON WUESTHOFF,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSB 33099 Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362 Office: 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Arynn Hauk ("mother") sought to relocate the parties' child to Virginia to join her fiancée and his children. During this process, they married and welcomed a child. Though mother had the majority of the residential time under the phased-in residential schedule in the permanent parenting plan, the trial court refused to apply the relocation presumption. Instead, the court calculated the time Respondent Brandon Wuesthoff ("father") may have assuming the plan is followed without modification for the next 13-to-14 years until the child turns 18. The court predicted that over the "four corners" of the parenting plan, Father would have 46% of the residential time, just enough to deny Mother the relocation presumption.

Two judges affirmed in a published decision, holding that the RCW 26.09.525 compels this outcome. *Marriage of Hauk*, No. 59057-3-II (March 18, 2025).

This Court should accept review and reverse.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where it is undisputed that mother had a majority of the child's residential time under the permanent parenting plan when she sought relocation (and during the trial), and where the trial court correctly found as much, did the trial court err in nonetheless determining father's residential time by calculating all the time he may have if the plan is followed without any modifications until the child turns 18?

Is this error harmful, where the trial court acknowledged the relocation decision was a very close call that it struggled with, questioned whether father could have overcome the relocation presumption, and admitted that applying the presumption might have changed its decision?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Legal Framework: the relocating parent is entitled to the presumption that relocation of the child will be permitted unless the parties share substantially equal residential time: 45% or more.

The Child Relocation Act ("CRA") "governs the process for relocating the primary residence of a child who is the subject of a court order for residential time." *Marriage* of Abbess, 23 Wn. App. 2d 479, 485-86, 516 P.3d 443 (2022) (citing *Marriage of McNaught*, 189 Wn. App. 545, 553, 359 P.3d 811 (2015)). The CRA creates a rebuttable presumption that the proposed relocation of the child will be permitted when the parent seeking relocation has a majority of the child's residential time. RCW 26.09.520; RCW 26.09.525(1)(a); *Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 895, 93 P.2d 124 (2004); **Abbess**, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 487; McNaught, 189 Wn. App. at 553. Stated in the negative, the statute provides that if "the person proposing relocation of a child has substantially equal residential time

[then the] presumption RCW 26.09.520 does not apply" RCW 26.09.525(1)(a).

"[S]ubstantially equal residential time" means that "[45%] or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent." RCW 26.09.525(2). To determine whether there is substantially equal residential time, the trial court must consider only time spent with parents as designated in the court order, unless there has been an established pattern of deviation that both parents have agreed to and that is not based on circumstances outside their control:

Substantially equal residential time.

(1) If the person proposing relocation of a child has substantially equal residential time:

(a) The presumption in RCW 26.09.520 does not apply; and

(b) In determining whether to restrict a parent's right to relocate with a child or in determining a modification of the court order as defined in RCW 26.09.410 based on the proposed relocation, the court shall make a determination in the best interests of the child considering the factors set forth in RCW 26.09.520. (2) For the purposes of this section and RCW 26.09.430, "substantially equal residential time" includes arrangements in which forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent. In determining the percentage, the court must (a) consider only time spent with parents and not any time ordered for nonparents under chapter 26.11 RCW; and (b) base its determination on the amount of time designated in the court order unless: (i) There has been an ongoing pattern of substantial deviation from the residential schedule; (ii) both parents have agreed to the deviation; and (iii) the deviation is not based on circumstances that are beyond either parent's ability to control.

RCW 26.09.525.

B. It is undisputed that under the parties' permanent parenting plan, mother had more than 45% of the residential time when she sought to relocate.

The parties' three-year marriage ended in June 2020,

at which time their child T. was two-years old. Hauk, No.

59057-3 at 1. On July 10, 2020, the trial court entered a

permanent parenting plan designating mother the primary

residential parent and awarding father residential time in

the following phases:

- Phase 1: first three months: 3/14 overnights.
- Phase 2: three months to age 3: 4/14 overnights.

- Phase 3: age three to start of kindergarten: 6/14 overnights.
- Phase 4: post-kindergarten: 7/14 overnights.

Id. at 2; Ex 20 ¶8; CP 103.

In April 2022, mother sought to relocate the child to Virginia, where she planned to live with her then fiancée and his children. *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 2. Father objected in May. *Id*. The parties were in phase three of the residential schedule, under which father had less than 45% of the residential time.¹ *Id*. at 4.

¹ At trial, Father argued that even under phase three of the parenting plan, he spent more time with the child than provided in the plan, totaling just over 45% of the residential time. That is incorrect. *Id.*; CP 162-63, 172-73. But in any event, the trial court determined father's residential time based on the 2020 parenting plan. CP 419, FF 11.p; see also BA, App. 35-37. On appeal, Father argued that the appellate court should affirm on the ground that if the trial court had counted father's time under phase three including holidays, then the parties would have had substantially equal residential time. *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 5 n.3. The appellate court did not reach this question. *Id.* But in any event, father's math relies on inaccurate assumptions and is ultimately incorrect. Reply 21-15.

C. Rather than determine substantially equal residential time based on the residential schedule in place when mother sought to relocate, the court counted father's days over the "totality" of the parenting plan.

Following trial in May 2023, the court found that the

parties were in phase three of the parenting plan under

which father had less than 45% of the residential time. CP

417-21, FF 11. Setting that aside, the court determined

residential time based on time father might enjoy over the

next 13-14 years, assuming the plan never changed (*id*.):

b. The court looked at the 2020 Parenting Plan and did a computation of overnights based on the totality of the plan, what the court refers to as the "four corners of the plan" which is defined to mean from the date the Parenting Plan was entered until the date it ends when the child reaches majority.

c. In doing so, the plan on its face in the math of the court, over the course of the entirety of the plan until the child turns 18, the child will spend 46.9% of time with [father].

• • •

e. As such, on its face, the 2020 Parenting Plan is a substantially equal parenting plan....

Having refused to award mother the relocation presumption, the trial court denied her requested relocation. *Id.* at 421.

D. The trial court acknowledged that its decision may have been different if it had applied the relocation presumption.

The court candidly acknowledged that its decision

denying relocation may well have been different if it had

applied the relocation presumption:

I do want to be clear about a point of law. Based on my analysis of 26.09.525, I've declined to find that the mother is entitled to a presumption in favor of relocation. If my decision in that regard had been different, if there had been that presumption, my decision on relocation may have been different. The presumption in favor of relocation is significant, and I'm not sure that the father would have overcome that presumption had that been the analysis.

RP 32-33. The court reiterated: it is "an extremely close

decision, a decision for which I struggled for many hours

and every day since we were last in court" Id. at 33; CP

421, FF 11.00-qq.

Mother appealed. CP 369-79, 383-423.

E. Without calling for argument, the appellate court issued a split decision affirming the trial court.

The appellate court affirmed in a split decision authored by Judge Linda Lee and joined by Judge Bradley Maxa. The court rejected mother's argument that the court must determine residential time based on the applicable residential schedule, holding that mother's interpretation conflicted with the plain language of the statute, which requires trial courts to determine residential time based on "the amount of time designated in the court order' ... not the phase designated in the court order at the time the relocation motion is filed." *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 9 (quoting RCW 26.09.525(2)(b) and citing RCW 26.09.410(1)). That is, the appellate court did not merely hold that the trial court may calculate residential time over the "four corners" of the parenting plan. Id. at 4, 8-9. It held that the "plain and unambiguous" meaning of RCW 26.09.525 is that a trial court *must* count all residential time from the parenting plan's inception to the child's 18th birthday. *Id*. at 8-10.

Judge Bernard Veljacic dissented, reasoning that for "purposes of determining the primary residential parent, the time calculation cannot include time not yet spent." *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 14 (Veljacic, J. Dissenting). Judge Veljacic continued that "[c]onsidering only time spent, and not time to be spent, is consistent with the plain language of RCW 26.09.525," where ""[s]pent,' as the majority notes in its footnote 8, 'is the past and past participle form of 'spend,' and is thus not in the present tense.' Maj. at 10. It cannot therefore include *time to be spent in the future.*" *Id*. at 14.

Judge Veljacic explained further that the majority's interpretation rendered parts of the statute superfluous. *Id.* at 14-15. The majority's focus on the "'time designated in the court order'" is a "strained interpretation of the plain language of the statute because anticipated time

'designated in the order' cannot nullify that the time considered in determining the primary residential parent must nevertheless be 'spent' in the past." *Id.* at 15 (quoting RCW 26.09.525(2)).

Finally, Judge Veljacic noted "compelling reasons for considering only actual 'time spent' when determining the primary residential parent," including the following:

- This "reflects actual reality, not a hoped-for reality."
- Trial courts "routinely" use phased-in residential schedules "for good reason: to provide long term certainty for parents and children, lessen litigation costs for modifications at each new phase, and address coming changes in children's developmental levels, among other reasons."
- These *planned* phases "may not come to be," for many reasons, including court-ordered modifications.
- Considering anticipated future time is "inconsistent with the best interests of the child."
- "... some parents do not actually exercise the residential time provided for in the parenting plan order. In those circumstances, considering anticipatory but unspent time, even though the unspent time is 'designated in the order,' can result in a parent being determined the primary

residential parent when that parent lacks a relationship with the child."

- It "takes into account that phased parenting plans may contain statutory protections under RCW 26.09.191, and that pursuant to a parent's struggles, often conditions are required before a new phase becomes effective."
- Determining residential time based on "anticipatory time not yet spent would turn the reason for such orders on its head, awarding primary residential status to a parent who has not yet 'demonstrated'" that they have satisfied the limitations on their residential time.

Id. at 14-16.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. This petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court held that *Marriage of Horner* presented

an issue of substantial public interest meriting this Court's review, stating the "issue is of a public nature because it concerns the interpretation of RCW 26.09.520 and because the Court of Appeals opinion was not limited to the *Horner* facts, but contained an interpretation of the statute." 151 Wn.2d at 892. The same is true here. The

appellate opinion interprets RCW 26.09.525 in a way that will impact many existing parenting plans and the manner in which trial court's decide future relocations. This Court should accept review and reverse. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The majority opinion incorrectly interpreted RCW 26.09.525.

RCW 26.09.525's plain language makes clear that residential time means the families' current circumstances, not what may come to be in the future. Section (1)(a) provides that the relocation presumption does not apply if "the person proposing relocation of a child has" substantially equal residential time RCW 26.09.525(1)(a) (emphasis added). "Has" is the third person singular present tense, meaning that the parent seeking relocation presently possesses X amount of residential time. To be a future tense that would permit counting time over the four corners of the parenting plan,

the statute would have to use "will have," or "will be having," or most accurately, "may have ... over the life of the plan."

Section (2) twice references the child's time "spent" with parents. It defines substantially equal residential time as "arrangements in which forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time **is spent** with each parent." RCW 26.09.525(2) (emphasis added). It then directs trial courts "determining the percentage [of residential time to] (a) consider only time **spent** with parents...." RCW 26.09.525(2)(a) (emphasis added).

As the dissent correctly notes, "'[s]pent'" "'is the past and past participle form of 'spend,' and is thus not in the present tense," so "cannot therefore include *time to be spent in the future*." *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 14 (citing Majority at 10). Rather, for "spent" to include future residential time, the statute would have to read, "the child's residential time is [that may be] spent with each parent";

and "the court must (a) consider only time [that may be] spent with parents...." RCW 26.09.525(2).

While mother certainly agrees with the dissent, it is imperative to note too that the statute uses "is spent":

... "substantially equal residential time" includes arrangements in which forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time **is spent** with each parent.

RCW 26.09.525(2) (emphases added). While the dissent correctly notes (as did the majority) that "spent" is past tense, "is spent" is not. Rather, it is couched in the thirdperson singular present tense form of the verb "to be." Thus, when the statute directs trial courts to consider time that "is spent" with each parent, it is referring to the present time, not to the future.

The trial court acknowledged that its determination of father's residential time included time T "will spend" with father over the next 13-to-14 years. CP 417, FF 11.c. This adds language to the statute, improperly changing its meaning. *See, e.g.*, *Rest. Dev., Inc. v. Cananwill, Inc.*,

150 Wn.2d 674, 682, 80 P.3d 598 (2003) ("a court must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them").

And as the dissent correctly notes, the majority's undue focus on the phrase "the amount of time designated in the court order" renders other portions of the statute superfluous. *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 15. This phrase must be taken in context in a manner that gives effect to what comes before and after it:

... "substantially equal residential time" includes arrangements in which forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent. In determining the percentage, the court must (a) consider only time spent with parents and not any time ordered for nonparents under chapter 26.11 RCW; and (b) base its determination on the amount of time designated in the court order unless: (i) There has been an ongoing pattern of substantial deviation from the residential schedule; (ii) both parents have agreed to the deviation; and (iii) the deviation is not based on circumstances that are beyond either parent's ability to control.

RCW 26.09.525(2). The statute first directs the court to

look at "the child's residential time [that] is spent with each

parent," a present tense reference. It then directs the court to "consider only time spent with parents [not] nonparents," a past tense reference eliminating third-parties from the calculus. It then tells the court to base its determination on the amount of time designated in the court order unless (1) the parties have (past tense) substantially deviated from the residential schedule; (2) they have (past tense) agreed to that deviation; and (3) it was within their control.

In short, the statute directs a court determining the percentage of residential time to look at the court order to ascertain the time spent with parents only, and to go beyond the court order and look at the parties' conduct only if it meets the requirements for a substantial deviation. This is not an invitation for the court to count future residential time. Doing so takes the "the amount of time designated in the court order" out of context, renders its surrounding context superfluous, and conflicts with "is spent."

2. The majority's incorrect statutory interpretation wrongly assumes the residential schedule will not change.

The trial court acknowledged its underlying

assumption that the parenting plan would not change:

Factually, at the time of trial, the parties are not yet into Phase four of the 2020 Parenting Plan, and Phase 4 of that plan is a 50/50 plan which is to begin in August of 2023 and will *presumably* run until the child turns 18. [Emphasis added.]

CP 418, FF 11.f. This speculation is unfounded:

[T]he planned phases, though designated in the order, may not come to be. For a variety of reasons, the phased parenting plan order may be subject to modification the same as any other parenting plan order, whether by a showing of substantial change in circumstances, or pursuant to relocation. *See* RCW 26.09.260. Such a modification disrupts the planned, though as of yet merely anticipatory, portions of the phased parenting plan order.

Hauk, No. 59057-3 at 14 (Veljacic, J. Dissenting).

And it is not in the child's best interest to determine

residential time based on anticipatory unspent time. Id. at

15. Rather, as the dissent again correctly noted, where a

parent does not exercise their residential time or progress

through the phases of a parenting plan, "considering anticipatory but unspent time, even though the unspent time is 'designated in the order,' can result in a parent being determined the primary residential parent when that parent lacks a relationship with the child." *Id*. That obviously is not in a child's best interest. *Id*.

The majority's answer that parties "are expected to follow a court's permanent parenting plan" ignores reality. *Id.* at 11. While courts may expect parties to follow their orders, many parents do not follow phased-in residential schedules, often because they cannot or will not obtain court-ordered treatment for substance use, mental health, or domestic violence.

In any event, parenting plans are subject to change, and the statute itself recognizes that parties may, by agreement, substantially deviate from the court-ordered residential schedule. RCW 26.09.525(2). Thus, it is indeed "flawed" to determine residential time based on an

assumption that the parties will follow it without deviation or modification for well over a decade.

3. The majority's incorrect statutory interpretation appears to be at odds with common practice.

As the dissent correctly notes, "trial judges routinely provide for ... phased parenting plan orders" *Hauk*, No. 59057-3 at 14 (Veljacic, J. Dissenting). Yet mother is unaware of any (published or unpublished) appellate decision in which trial courts have determined residential time this way. Nor have any been cited.

There are, however, unpublished appellate decisions determining residential time under phased-in parenting plans based on the current residential schedule, not on anticipated, unspent time. *See e.g., Parentage of P.J.M.* 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2449* (2019) (*see infra*); *Marriage of Ingram-Cauchi*, 216 Wash. App. LEXIS 2625*, *7 (2016) (giving mother the relocation presumption where father currently had 6/14 overnights, but the

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