FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/22/2025 1:23 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104074-1 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ARYNN HAUK,

Petitioner,

v.

BRANDON WUESTHOFF,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMPASS LEGAL SERVICES, P.S.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Samuel G. Wyco, II WSBA No. 54355 By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

9481 Bay Shore Drive NW Suite 202 Silverdale, WA 98383 (360) 471-3300 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

The Child Relocation Act ("CRA") provides that when parents have "substantially equal residential time," the presumption in favor of allowing the child to relocate does not apply. RCW 26.09.525(1)(a). The CRA defines substantially equal residential time as "forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent." RCW 26.09.525(2). In "determining the percentage" of time the child resides with each parent, the CRA requires the court to "base its determination on the amount of time designated in the court order." RCW 26.09.525(2)(b).

The Court of Appeals properly rejected mother's argument that RCW 26.09.525 requires trial courts to "consider only the current phase of a parenting plan in calculating each parent's residential time, rather than the parenting plan as a whole." (Op. 7) Instead, the court held RCW 26.09.525 requires trial courts to consider the total

amount of time designated to each parent under the parenting plan and "not on a portion of the time in the parenting plan." (Op. 12)

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4 because the Court of Appeals decision is wholly consistent with a plain reading of the statute and the intent underlying the CRA. Further, this case is not well-suited for review because an alternative ground that was not addressed by the Court of Appeals supports the trial court's decision—under either parent's interpretation of RCW 26.09.525, the daughter spent more than 45 percent of her residential time with father at the time the trial court made its relocation decision, when the holiday schedule is included.

This Court should deny review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The judge who entered the original July 2020 parenting plan found it was in the best interest of the parties' daughter, then age 2, to reside with both parents equally once she started kindergarten in August 2023.

Respondent Brandon Wuesthoff and petitioner Arynn Hauk are the parents of a daughter born May 23, 2018. (See CP 340-41) The judge who presided over the parties' divorce trial entered a parenting plan for the daughter, then age 2, on July 10, 2020. (CP 427-38) Based on the evidence presented at trial, the judge found it was in the daughter's best interests to reside with both parents "50/50" once the daughter started kindergarten in August 2023, at age 5. (See CP 430, 437; RP 5) Between entry of the parenting plan in July 2020 and August 2023 when the daughter would reside with each parent on a weekly basis, father was granted increasing residential time over four phases. (CP 429-30) Immediately preceding the 50/50 residential schedule, the daughter was to reside with father six out of fourteen overnights, when the daughter reached age 3. (CP 429)

In addition to the regular residential schedule, father had up to two and one-half additional days every year for his birthday and Father's Day. (CP 431, 33) Because the parents shared other holidays on an alternating basis, father had up to ten additional days in odd years for Fourth of July, Thanksgiving break, New Years, and the daughter's birthday. (CP 431-33, 465-66) In even years, father had up to seven and one-half additional days for Winter Break and Halloween. (CP 431-33, 465-66)

B. By the time mother sought to relocate in April 2022, the daughter was residing with father six out of fourteen overnights, plus holidays.

On April 20, 2022, mother filed a notice of intent to relocate with the daughter to Virginia, where her fiancé's two children from a previous marriage resided. (CP 1-4) By then, the daughter had been residing with father for six out of fourteen overnights for nearly a year and the family was

sixteen months from the 50/50 residential schedule taking effect. (CP 429-30)

Father objected to the daughter's relocation away from Washington, where her extended family, including both sets of grandparents, her paternal great grandparents, stepmother, and half-sister-father's daughter from his new marriage—live. (CP 19-25) Father asserted in his objection that the parties share "substantially equal residential time," as the daughter spends "45% or more of their time with each parent." (CP 19-20) Including the additional time under the holiday schedule, father asserted that in the twelve months leading up to mother filing her notice of intent to relocate in April 2022, the daughter had resided with father for approximately 168 days, or 46 percent of the time. (See CP 42-43)

Whether the parents have "substantially equal residential time" with the daughter was of significant relevance to whether the daughter would be allowed to

relocate because the presumption in favor of relocation under RCW 26.09.520 is not applied in those circumstances. RCW 26.09.525(1)(a). Because the statute defines substantially equal residential time as "arrangements in which forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent" RCW 26.09.525(2), father asserted that mother was not entitled to the presumption that relocation be granted. (CP 42)

In her answer to father's objection, mother responded to his statement that the parties have substantially equal residential time by stating she "agree[s] with what the other party said about this." (CP 96) Mother, however, disputed father's statements that relocation was not in the daughter's best interests. (See CP 97-98)

C. The court-appointed GAL recommended that relocation be denied based on her opinion that it would be harmful to the daughter to disrupt her relationship with her father, with whom she resided over 45 percent of the time.

The court-appointed guardian ad litem (GAL) recommended that relocation be denied. (CP 319) The GAL reported that "for twenty-one months, [the daughter] has had consistently over 45% residential time with her father and about 55% residential time with her mother." (CP 280) While the GAL acknowledged that the daughter was "securely bonded with each parent," she expressed concern that if the daughter were allowed to relocate her "relationship with her father would be severely disrupted to the point of detriment to [the daughter]'s well-being" (CP 319) and the relocation would "likely cause her extreme distress and separation anxiety from her father, his wife, her half-sister and her extended family in the area here." (CP 314)

D. During the relocation trial, the parties disputed whether they had substantially equal residential time with the daughter.

Shortly before the relocation trial, then scheduled to commence on April 4, 2023, mother sought to amend her answer to father's objection, in which she had conceded the parents have substantially equal residential time. Mother changed her position and claimed she was entitled to the presumption that the relocation be allowed under RCW 26.09.520 because the daughter resided the majority of time with her. (*See* CP 101, 106, 224) The trial court granted mother leave to amend her answer and continued the trial to May 2, 2023, approximately three months before the 50/50 residential schedule under the parenting plan would take effect. (*See* CP 214-15, 444)

During trial, father asserted that notwithstanding that the 50/50 residential schedule was not yet in effect, he had substantially equal residential time with the daughter under the then-existing phase of the parenting plan.

Including the holiday schedule, depending on whether it was an odd year or even year, father asserted the daughter spent 45 to 46 percent of her residential time with him. (CP 465-66)¹

- E. The trial court denied mother's request to relocate the daughter.
 - 1. The trial court found mother was not entitled to the relocation presumption because father had substantially equal residential time based on the total "amount of time designated" to him in the parenting plan.

At the conclusion of trial, the trial court noted that three months from the conclusion of trial, the parties would enter the final phase of the parenting plan making it "a 50/50 plan," which will be followed until the daughter reached age 18. (RP 5-6) The trial court therefore recognized that "for approximately 13 years of this parenting plan, [father] would have . . . equal amount of

¹ Father's calculation of his residential time was admitted as an illustrative exhibit at trial. (CP 447, 463-66)

parenting time" as mother (RP 6), which would be disrupted if the daughter were allowed to relocate.

In determining whether the presumption favoring relocation applied, the trial court did not consider the amount of time father had under the current phase of the parenting plan, which father asserted was approximately 45 percent of the time, including holidays. Instead, the trial court considered "the totality of the plan, what the court refers to as the 'four corners of the plan'" to determine whether the parties had substantially equal residential time. (Finding of Fact (FF) 11(b), CP 417)

The trial court found, based on "the plan on its face," that "over the course of the entirety of the plan until the child turns 18, the child will spend 46.9% of the time with [father]." (FF 11(c), CP 417) Accordingly, the trial court found, "on its face, the 2020 Parenting Plan is a substantially equal parenting plan." (FF 11(e), CP 418)

2. The trial court found it was not in the daughter's best interests to relocate.

Based on its determination that the parents had substantially equal residential time under the parenting plan, the trial court based its relocation decision on the daughter's best interests rather than mother's best interests and the relocation presumption. (*See* FF 11(dd), CP 420) After considering the factors under RCW 26.09.520, the trial court stated, "[b]ased on the totality of the evidence and the court's review of all factors, the court finds it is in the child's best interests to decline relocation to Virginia" with mother. (FF 11(kk), CP 420)

The trial court found that "a long-distance move of a 5-year-old girl who's very well-bonded with her father" was not in her best interests. (RP 32) The trial court acknowledged mother's reasons for wanting to relocate with the daughter were "not without merit, but they are not sufficient to justify substantially reducing [father]'s time" (FF 11(mm), CP 421) and "do not justify the cost of the

child's significant loss of time with [father] and is not in the child's best interest." (FF 11(nn), CP 421)

The trial court also noted that while the daughter "has met folks in Virginia," it found she was "more bonded with family members in Western Washington." (FF 5(a)(5), CP 411) The trial court found "from an emotional development standpoint, relocation would be a significant hindrance on [the daughter] and would impact her significantly." (RP 24)

Because "the presumption in favor of relocation is significant," the trial court acknowledged that had the presumption applied, "my decision on relocation may have been different . . . and I'm not sure that the father would have overcome that presumption had that been the analysis." (RP 33; FF 11(00), (pp), CP 421)

After the trial court ruled, mother confirmed her intent to relocate without the daughter. A modified parenting plan was entered to accommodate mother's

relocation on November 14, 2023. (CP 370) The daughter now resides with father during the school year, with mother during the majority of summer break, and with each parent during alternating holidays and spring and winter breaks. (CP 372-74) Therefore, when this answer is filed, daughter will have been residing the majority of time with father for eighteen months.

F. In a split decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

Mother appealed the trial court's decision, arguing that "under RCW 26.09.525, a trial court should consider only the current phase of a parenting plan in calculating each parent's residential time, rather than the parenting plan as a whole." (Op. 7) Mother, however, did not dispute that based on the trial court's interpretation of RCW 26.09.525, father had 46.9 percent of residential time with the daughter under the parenting plan. (Op. 3, n.2)

Father responded that "the trial court's calculation of residential time is consistent with the plain language of

RCW 26.09.525." (Op. 7, internal quotations omitted) Father however conditionally cross-appealed from the trial court's decision, arguing "that even if the trial court erred in how it calculated each parent's residential time, this court can nevertheless affirm because had the trial court considered Wuesthoff's residential time under phase three of the 2020 parenting plan including the holidays it would have still found the parents had substantially equal residential time." (Op. 5, n. 3, internal quotations and alterations omitted)

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision in 2-1 split decision. The majority held that the trial court's computation of each parent's residential time "based on the totality of the [parenting] plan" was consistent with a plain language reading of RCW 26.09.525(2)(b), which states that in determining the percentage of residential time the parents have with the child, the court must "base its determination on the

amount of time *designated in the court order*." (Op. 9, emphasis in original) Accordingly, the majority held that RCW 26.09.525(2)(b) "supports the trial court's calculation of residential time by looking to the applicable parenting plan and not just the phase of the parenting plan applicable at the time the relocation motion is filed." (Op. 9) Because the majority affirmed the trial court's method of calculation, it did not address father's conditional crossappeal. (Op. 5, n. 3)

Judge Veljacic dissented, apparently viewing the inquiry under RCW 26.09.525 as "determining the primary residential parent" (Dissent 14) and expressing concern that considering "anticipatory time not yet spent to determine the primary residential parent is inconsistent with the best interests of the child." (Dissent 15) Judge Veljacic stated that "only actual 'time spent'" should be considered "when determining the primary residential parent." (Dissent 15)

III. GROUNDS FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. Review is not warranted because the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any published appellate decisions.

Review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted because it does not conflict with any published appellate court decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The "conflict" alleged by petitioner is based not on case law, but on her assertion that the court's interpretation of RCW 26.09.525 "undermines the CRA, the traditional presumption that fit parents act in a child's best interests, and numerous cases giving effect to that presumption, as well as the relocation presumption that incorporates it." (Pet. 29) She is wrong.

The relocation presumption only applies when the child resides the majority of time with one parent because it presumes "that a fit parent entrusted with the most time with a child will act in the child's best interest, and thus the relocation must also be in the child's best interest."

Marriage of Ruff & Worthley, 198 Wn. App. 419, 431, ¶27, 393 P.3d 859 (2017). The presumption gives deference to the primary residential parent's request to relocate the child because of "the traditional presumption that a fit parent will act in the best interests of her child." Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 895, 93 P.3d 124 (2004).

However, when "forty-five percent or more of the child's residential time is spent with each parent," the parents have "substantially equal residential time" and the presumption favoring relocation under RCW 26.09.520 "does not apply." RCW 26.09.525(1)(a), (2). Under those circumstances, "both parents are equally entrusted to act in the child's best interests" and "the court presumes both parents act in the child's best interests." *Ruff*, 198 Wn. App. at 431, ¶27. Therefore, when the result of a proposed relocation would disrupt a parenting plan that is intended to provide the child substantially equal residential time with each parent, rather than "emphasize one parent's best

interest," the "focus should be on the child's best interest." *Ruff*, 198 Wn. App. at 431, ¶27.

The Court of Appeals decision is wholly consistent with these principles and those decisions addressing them. Because the amount of time designated "from the time the Parenting Plan was entered until the date it ends" provided the parents with substantially equal residential time (FF 11(b), (d), CP 416-17), the court properly affirmed the trial court's relocation order based on the child's best interests and not mother's best interests and the presumption that relocation should be allowed. (Op. 11-12)

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